RECEIVED

AUG 10 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2015-000295

TD Bank, N.A., Successor by merger to Carolina First Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon w. Lalla, Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. Jahue Moore
John C. Bradley, Jr.
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
803-796-9160
803-791-8410 (Fax)
Attorneys for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2015-000295

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONSIDERING ISSUES IN THE MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT THAT WERE NOT BROUGHT BEFORE THE COURT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT RECOGNIZING THAT THE PLAINTIFF HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH THE EXISTENCE OF THE NOTE AND ASSIGNMENT OF THE MORTGAGE, AND IT FAILED TO DO SO?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY OF THE BANK EMPLOYEE REGARDING INFORMATION OUTSIDE HIS KNOWLEDGE OR CONTROL?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THAT THE PLAINTIFF OR ITS PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST RECEIVED TARP MONEY FROM THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT AND WAS REQUIRED TO FOLLOW CERTAIN PROCEDURES UNDER HAMP?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDER THE ABSENCE OF THE DEFENDANTS IN ITS ORDER?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN POUNDING JUDGMENT THAT THE PLAINTIFF DID NOT SEEK?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 15, 2011, the Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint against the Defendants. (R. pp. 23-61). The pleadings were properly served. The Complaint seeks judgment against Dr. Sunil Lalla based upon the existence of an alleged note and based upon an allegation the note is owned by the Plaintiff.

The Defendants filed an Answer on or around April 11, 2011. In the Answer, the Defendants denied the existence of the note. (R. pp. 62-64). On December 10, 2012, Judge Joe Crosby, Master-in-Equity for Georgetown County, held a foreclosure hearing. After the hearing, Judge Crosby issued an Order dated April 22, 2013, in which he held that the Plaintiff's had not proven any right to a deficiency judgment. (R. pp. 3-11). The Plaintiff timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Order. (R. pp. 239-248). On February 4, 2015, Judge Crosby filed an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. pp. 12-20). Defendants timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 254-265).

In 2006, Dr. Lalla entered into a mortgage with Carolina First Bank for property located in Garden City, South Carolina. (R. pp. 30, 43). The mortgage was filed in Georgetown County, South Carolina. At the time of the lawsuit, there had been no additional mortgages on the property, and no assignments of the mortgage had been filed with the Register of Deeds Office in Georgetown County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 110-112).

Due to the downturn in the economy, Dr. Lalla had financial issues. He attempted to work out a solution with the Plaintiff, Toronto-Dominion (TD) Bank, who claimed to have been assigned the mortgage. Plaintiff, however, instituted an action against Defendant, despite the property being residential and perhaps subject to the

Homeowner's Affordable Modification program under the Federal Government. (R. pp. 125-129).

The first cause of action in the Complaint is based upon the alleged note. This note was allegedly signed on November 13, 2006. It is alleged the note is secured by a mortgage from the property located in Garden City. The second cause of action seeks foreclosure upon a mortgage as described above. (R. p. 35, ¶¶ 23-27). In the second cause of action, Plaintiff claims its note is secured by the mortgage. The note referred to in the second cause of action is the note alleged to exist in the first cause of action. Thus, the right to foreclose on the mortgage is tied to the proof and existence of the note described in the first cause of action. Pursuant to the Complaint, the right claimed by Plaintiff to a monetary judgment is based upon the note. The right Plaintiff claims to foreclose is based upon the mortgage described in the second cause of action. The second cause of action does not seek any monetary judgment. (R. p. 35.) The third cause of action seeks attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the note. Thus, without adequate proof of the note, the third cause of action fails. The fourth cause of action is moot as it seeks a receiver to collect rents to preserve the property during the pendency of the action.

In paragraph seven (7) of the Defendants' Answer, they deny they have given Plaintiff the note that is the subject of the first cause of action. (R. pp. 63, 97). Thus, the validity of the note is in question as is the issue of ownership of the note.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONSIDERING ISSUES IN THE MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT SINCE THOSE ISSUES WERE NOT BROUGHT BEFORE THE COURT.

- a. The Trial Court should have denied the Motion since it raised issues not brought before the Court.

Our Courts have made it clear that “[a] party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not.” *Tallent v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 363 S.C. 160, 165, 609 S.E.2d 544, 546 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Kiawah Prop. Owners Group v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004)); *see also MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assoc.*, 356 S.C. 370, 374, 588 S.E.2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding that a party cannot raise an issue for first time in a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at trial). A party cannot use a motion to alter or amend judgment to present to the trial court issues the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not. South Carolina Rules Civ. Proc., Rule 59(e). *Crary v. Djebelli* 321 S.C. 38, 467 S.E.2d 128 (S.C. App. 1995).

In its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, the Plaintiff introduced the issue of presumption for the first time. The Motion stated: “The Master failed to apply the presumption that Defendant had executed a note in favor of Plaintiff.” (R. p. 240, ¶ 4). Since the issue of presumption was not brought before the Court, it is improper. In addition, the code section cited by Plaintiff was misleading to the Court. The Plaintiff cited S.C. Code Ann § 36-3-307 (2006) to claim that the Court should have presumed that Defendant signed the note. However, this section applies only when the authenticity of a signature is questioned, not when the authenticity of the document itself is

questioned. The Court cited S.C. Code Ann § 36-3-307, but this is a definitional section only. It does not contain instructions on its application to authenticating a *document*.

The Plaintiff also introduced the issue of estoppel for the first time in the Motion. The Plaintiff stated: “Because Defendants made payments to the bank under the note, the Defendants are estopped from denying the existence of the note.” (R. p. 242, ¶ 10). Since the issue of estoppel was not brought before the Trial Court, this is improper.

The Plaintiff also for the first time introduced the issue of standing. Although the Defendants’ Answer to the Complaint stated that they denied the existence of the note and counterclaims were asserted, the Plaintiff did not assert that the Defendant’s lacked standing as one of its defenses. (R. pp. 62, 65). The Judge improperly considered this issue in his Order, stating: “Defendants lack standing.” (R. p. 13, fn. 1). Defendants did not have an opportunity to examine this assertion. It was not raised in the pleadings, nor was it raised at the hearing. This was an error of law.

These improper issues, raised for the first time in the Motion to Alter or Amend, should not have been considered by the Trial Court and the Motion should have been denied.

- b. The Trial Court erred in considering evidence submitted to the Court in the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.

The Plaintiff also failed to honor the Court’s instructions and attached evidence not presented to the Court, denying Defendants the opportunity to cross-examine on the evidence. (R. pp. 154-155). This is improper and should have led the Trial Court to deny the Motion. SCRPC Rule 59(e); *see Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 682 S.E.2d 843 (S.C. App. 2009) (Appellate court considering father's challenge to child support award

could not consider financial document appearing only as an attachment to father's postjudgment motion to alter or amend judgment).

“A judge may not, after all testimony has been taken, receive additional contested evidence without reopening the case.” *Johnson v. Johnson*, 288 S.C. 270, 274, 341 S.E.2d 811, 814 (Ct. App. 1986). The only exception to this rule is if the evidence is newly discovered and meets the following criteria: the evidence (1) is of such magnitude that had the court known of it earlier, the outcome would likely have been different; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material to the issue; **and** (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. S. C. Rules of Civ. Proc., Rules 59(b), 60(b) (emphasis added).

The evidence in this case failed to meet prong number three. It was discoverable before the trial. Therefore, the additional evidence should have been submitted and considered by the Court, and the Motion should have been denied.

II. THE PLAINTIFF HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO ESTABLISH THE EXISTENCE OF THE NOTE AND ASSIGNMENT OF THE MORTGAGE, WHICH IT FAILED TO DO.

“[W]here the defendant pleads special matter that denies an element of the plaintiff's cause of action, the defense is not affirmative and the burden of proof remains on the plaintiff to establish his case.” *O'Neal v. Carolina Farm Supply of Johnston, Inc.*, 279 S.C. 490, 494, 309 S.E.2d 776, 779 (Ct. App. 1983). It is an elementary rule of civil practice that a Plaintiff must prove the allegations of the Complaint by a preponderance of the evidence. *Brucke v. Howard*, 74 S.C. 144, 54 S.E. 249 (1906); *Smith v. Smith*, 194 S.C. 247, 9 S.E.2d 584 (1940). In any suit on a note, a plaintiff must prove the existence of the note. Plaintiff must prove his ownership of the note. Plaintiff must prove the

terms of the note. Further, plaintiff must prove a breach of the note as a condition precedent to suit. 12 Am. Jur. 2d. *Bills and Notes*, Section 650, *et seq.*

a. The Trial Court erred in ignoring the best evidence rule.

The Order states that the Court considered a copy of a note as properly admitted evidence. This was an error of law. "A duplicate is admissible to the same extent as an original unless (1) a genuine question is raised as to the authenticity of the original or (2) in the circumstances it would be unfair to admit the duplicate in lieu of the original." Rule 1003, SCRE. The Defendants raised the issue as to the authenticity of this copy in the hearing, therefore the original was required. The only exceptions to an original are:

- (1) Originals Lost or Destroyed. All originals are lost or have been destroyed, unless the proponent lost or destroyed them in bad faith; or
- (2) Original Not Obtainable. No original can be obtained by any available judicial process or procedure; or
- (3) Original in Possession of Opponent. At a time when an original was under the control of the party against whom offered, that party was put on notice, by the pleadings or otherwise, that the contents would be a subject of proof at the hearing, and that party does not produce the original at the hearing; or
- (4) Collateral Matters. The writing, recording, or photograph is not closely related to a controlling issue.

Rule 1004, SCRE. The Plaintiff's witness testified that the alleged note was in the Plaintiff's possession, and had not been lost or destroyed. He also testified that it was obtainable. (R. pp. 90-91). The Plaintiff was put on notice that the contents would be a subject of proof at the hearing by the Answer of the Defendants, and the Plaintiff did not produce the original at the hearing. In addition, the existence of a note would be closely related to the claim by Plaintiff. Since all of the elements are met, the Court was in error to consider a copy of the alleged note. South Carolina Courts hold the admission of secondary evidence is not a favored practice. *Wynn v. Coney*, 232 S.C. 346, 102 S.E.2d

209 (1958); *Drayton v. Industrial Life & Health Ins. Co.*, 205 S.C. 98, 31 S.E.2d 148 (1944). See also *De Loach v. Sarratt*, 55 S.C. 254, 33 S.E. 2 (1899) (too much leniency should not be allowed in a party's proof of the absence of original documents when that party wishes to resort to secondary evidence of the contents of the written papers). "If [it is] impossible to obtain the original, a resort to secondary evidence would be allowed and justified, but *not so when these papers are in the custody* of the [Plaintiff], and could be obtained ... to a reasonable extent. It is plaintiff's duty to present these original[s]." *De Loach v. Sarratt*, 55 S.C. 254, 33 S.E. 2, 10 (1899). In that case, the Court held that "the circuit judge was in error in admitting ... secondary evidence" when the originals were obtainable.

Florida courts also agree that it is true that the proper party with standing to foreclose a note and mortgage is the holder of the note and mortgage or the holder's representative. See *BAC Funding Consortium Inc. ISAOA/ATIMA v. Jean-Jacques*, 28 So. 3d 936, 938 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010). However, "[t]he party seeking foreclosure must present evidence that it owns and holds the note and mortgage in question in order to proceed with a foreclosure action." *Lizio v. McCullom*, 36 So. 3d 927, 929 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). A plaintiff must tender the original promissory note to the trial court or seek to reestablish the lost note under section 673.3091, Florida Statutes (2010). *State St. Bank & Trust Co. v. Lord*, 851 So. 2d 790, 791 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

The Plaintiff is a national banking institution. Plaintiff claims to be the holder of the note described in the first cause of action. The Plaintiff did not bring the original note to the trial and it was not received into evidence. (R. pp, 76-77, 90). Plaintiff did attempt to introduce a copy of the note but counsel for the Defendants properly objected to the

alleged note on the basis of the best evidence rule. (R. pp. 90-96). *Penton v. J.F. Cleckley and Company*, 326 S.C. 275, 486 S.E.2d 742 (1997); *Shirer v. O.W.S. and Associates*, 253 S.C. 232, 169 S.E.2d 621 (1969). The copy of the note should have been excluded from evidence, and the Court should not have considered the terms or conditions of the alleged note. 12 Am. Jur. 2d. *Bills and Notes*, Section 668.

Plaintiff did bring an official from the bank to trial. He testified the note is in existence. He testified the original is still in possession of the bank. (R. p. 90). There was no legitimate reason advanced which would justify the requirement of the original document being placed into evidence. *Penton v. J.F. Cleckley and Company*, 326 S.C. 275, 486 S.E.2d 742 (1997); *Shirer v. O.W.S. and Associates*, 253 S.C. 232, 169 S.E.2d 621 (1969); 12 Am. Jur. 2d. *Bills and Notes*, Section 668.

- b. Since there was no merger between TD Bank and Carolina First, S.C. Code Ann. § 34-3-850 (2006) does not apply.

The Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 is an Order Approving the Acquisition of a Bank Holding Company. It is not a merger agreement. However, the Order states that there was testimony sufficient to establish a merger. (R. p. 13-14). When questioned, Plaintiff's representative testified that there was not a merger, only a stock acquisition. (R. p. 116).

Because the Plaintiff's representative testified that there was no merger, the Court was in error to apply S.C. Code Ann. § 34-3-850. Since there was no documentation showing that TD bank had merged or had acquired Carolina First, this statute can not be used to provide that Plaintiff was the holder of the note and mortgage. This was an error of law.

- c. Plaintiff failed to offer proof of assignment of the note or the mortgage.

Plaintiff claims to be an assignee of the rights of Carolina First Bank. On the other hand, no assignment of any note was placed into evidence and no assignment of any mortgage was placed into evidence. Plaintiff did introduce some securities records wherein Plaintiff acquired the “parent company” of Carolina First Bank. These documents do not establish that Plaintiff is the holder upon which suit has now been brought.

Carolina First Bank is a separate entity from its parent corporation. There simply is nothing in evidence from which the Court can conclude that Plaintiff is now the holder of the alleged note. The Plaintiff’s witness testified that there was an acquisition of the South Financial Group by the TD Bank, but not that there was an acquisition of Carolina First, the holder of the note, by TD Bank. (R. pp. 81, 158). The subsidiary company of the parent company is a separate legal entity. There is nothing in the record from which this Court can conclude that Plaintiff ever acquired the note.

A mortgage is a security instrument. *Brockington v. Lynch*, 119 S.C. 273, 112 S.E. 94 (1922). In order to foreclose, a plaintiff must prove it is owed money secured by the instrument and the terms of the negotiable instrument have been breached. *Paramount Fund Inc. v. Cusaac*, 282 S.C. 497, 319 S.E.2d 354 (S.C. App. 1984); *Blackwell v. Blackwell*, 289 S.C. 470, 346 S.E.2d 731 (S.C. App. 1986); 12 Am. Jur. 2d. *Mortgages*, Section 658, *et seq.* In the present case, there is simply no proof of the essential elements of the causes of action. The witness for the Plaintiff testified that Plaintiff’s Exhibits 1 and 2 establish an assignment of mortgage. However, those

exhibits refer only to TD Bank and The South Financial Group. There are no documents that refer to TD Bank and Carolina First. (R. pp. 112-125).

In order for an assignee to collect on a negotiable instrument, he must first prove a valid assignment of the instrument. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 644 S.E.2d 740 (S.C. App. 2007). There was no such proof in this case. The public record of Georgetown County shows the record holder of the mortgage to be Carolina First Bank and not the Plaintiff. In short, there is nothing on the public record to indicate the mortgage or the note was ever assigned to the Plaintiff. (R. pp. 112-125).

The mortgage clearly gives Carolina First the right to foreclose upon proof of default in the note or debts of the Defendants. According to the public record, Plaintiff is not the holder of the mortgage. On the other hand, the right to foreclose according to the mortgage belongs to Carolina First Bank and not to the Plaintiff.

Plaintiff claims it now owns the mortgage that it seeks to foreclose. Again, Plaintiff does not and has not explained exactly how it claims to hold title to the mortgage. Further, Plaintiff has not proven it is the holder of any debts secured by the claimed mortgage.

In this case, Plaintiff has failed to prove ownership of the note and mortgage. It is admitted the note was never given to the Plaintiff or any of its representatives. The note was given in favor of Carolina First Bank and there is no proof the note was ever assigned by Carolina First Bank to anyone.

- d. Even if the mortgage was assigned, any note associated with it does not follow.

“[T]he assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the mortgage, but ... the assignment of the mortgage alone does not carry with it an assignment of the note.” *Hahn v. Smith*, 157 S.C. 157, 167, 154 S.E. 112, 115 (1930).

Therefore, even if Defendants admitted the existence of the mortgage, the note does not follow. In addition, the Defendants have not admitted the assignment of the mortgage. The Plaintiff failed to establish its ownership of the note and mortgage. The Court was in error to hold otherwise.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF THE BANK EMPLOYEE REGARDING INFORMATION OUTSIDE HIS KNOWLEDGE OR CONTROL.

The testimony of the bank employee was not sufficient to establish the alleged assignment or merger of the banks. Therefore, it was an error of law to admit his testimony in this area. It was also an error of law to admit the Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, which were copies of printouts from a computer. “A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.” Rule 602, SCRE. The Court itself testified that it was “not exactly sure” of the witness' area of knowledge. (R. p. 104). Since the Court itself was not sure of the knowledge that the witness had, the Court should not have relied on the testimony of the witness to establish assignment, merger, payments, the note, or the mortgage.

The witness testified:

Q – Do you know of any document where that was assigned from Carolina First Bank to its current company?

A – I don't have anything in my possession, no.

...

Q – So we know of no document anywhere where Carolina First ever assigned its claim to this mortgage to South Financial, correct?

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