THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

The Honorable Joe M. Crosby, Master-in-Equity

AUG 05 2015

Case No. 2011-CP-22-00342

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000295

TD Bank, N.A., successor by merger to Carolina First
Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Sunil V. Lalla and Sharon W. Lalla, Appellants.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TD BANK, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER
TO CAROLINA FIRST BANK, N.A.**

Thomas William McGee, III
A. Mattison Bogan
Tara C. Sullivan
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

The Master-in-Equity correctly ruled that TD Bank is entitled to a judgment for foreclosure and sale and a deficiency judgment in this matter. TD Bank met its burden of proof on its claim at trial, and Appellants failed to put forth any evidence to refute TD Bank's claim or to support their counterclaim. Dr. Lalla's Affidavit corroborates TD Bank's allegations. Further, TD Bank's post-hearing Memorandum, requested by the Master-in-Equity, did not contain any new issues or evidence which had not yet been raised to the Master-in-Equity—only matters of indisputable public record. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity's order granting TD Bank's request for a judgment of foreclosure and sale and a deficiency judgment against Dr. Lalla.

I. The Master-in-Equity properly found that TD Bank met its burden of proof on its claim for relief.

A. The Master-in-Equity properly admitted a copy of the Note.

Appellants argue the Master-in-Equity ignored the best evidence rule by admitting a copy of the Note into evidence. Appellants' Brief pp. 5-8. However, the Master-in-Equity properly admitted a copy of the Note into evidence pursuant to South Carolina law.

Because the foreclosure hearing in this matter was heard by the Master-in-Equity without a jury, all evidence introduced should have been admitted and evaluated. "A trial judge's role in a bench trial is to admit all evidence and then evaluate it in a non-jury setting." *Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 21, 27, 542 S.E.2d 723, 726 (2001). "[U]nder *Brown v. Allstate*, the role of the circuit court [in a bench trial is] to admit all

evidence, admissible or inadmissible, and then evaluate it as the fact finder.” *Lucas v. Vanover*, No. 2006-UP-233, 2006 WL 7286027, at *4 (S.C. Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2006). Therefore, the Master-in-Equity properly admitted a copy of the Note—and all other evidence or testimony objected to by Appellants’ counsel in this matter—into evidence as the fact-finder in a bench trial setting.

Moreover, South Carolina Code § 19-5-610 provides that any “photographic, photostatic, microfilm, microcard, miniature photographic or other process which accurately reproduces or forms a durable medium” is “as admissible in evidence as the original itself in any judicial or administrative proceeding whether the original is in existence or not.” S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-610. South Carolina courts have specifically held that a copy of a note is competent evidence to establish the existence of the note. *See Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper, et al.*, 405 S.C. 214, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013) (relying on the copy of the note to establish its existence). Hence, the copy of the note provided at trial was properly admitted into evidence.

As Appellants admit, the best evidence rule only prohibits the admission of a duplicate in lieu of an original where “a **genuine** question is raised as to the authenticity of the original.” Rule 1003, South Carolina Rules of Evidence (emphasis added); *see also* Appellants’ Brief p. 6. Appellants did not put forth any evidence at trial to raise an issue as to the authenticity of the Note. Instead, Appellants rely on their denial of the execution of the Note in their Answer. Appellants’ Brief p. 6. However, Appellants’ mere denial in their pleadings is insufficient to raise a genuine question as to the authenticity of the Note. *See State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 439, 721 S.E.2d 465, 467 (Ct. App. 2012) (“Federal authority construing the identical...Federal Rule[] of Evidence is

instructive.”); *United States v. Harris*, 898 F.2d 148, *5 (4th Cir. 1990) (unpublished table decision) (The opponent to the admissibility of the duplicate “bears the burden of demonstrating a genuine issue as to the trustworthiness of the duplicate.”); *Gadberry v. Rental Serv. Corp.*, No. CA 0:09-3327-CMC, 2011 WL 767034, at *2 (D.S.C. Jan. 21, 2011) *report and recommendation adopted sub nom. Gadberry v. Rental Servs. Corp.*, No. CA 0:09-3327-CMC-PJG, 2011 WL 766991 (D.S.C. Feb. 24, 2011) (holding that, under Fed. R. Evid. 1003, the opponent to the admissibility of the duplicate must raise a “genuine question as to the authenticity of the original” and cannot rely on an “unsupported attack on the authenticity”); 32A C.J.S. Evidence § 1357 (“The burden of showing that a genuine issue as to the authenticity of the original writing or document exists . . . is on the party opposing the duplicate’s admission into evidence. An opponent to the admissibility of a duplicate must make more than a mere allegation regarding a lack of authenticity of an original writing or document; instead, the party opposing admission must show specific facts or circumstances that raise a reasonable question regarding the authenticity of the original.”). In addition, Dr. Lalla subsequently submitted an Affidavit in which he confirmed the existence of the Note. [Affidavit of Lalla; R. 228]. Therefore, there was no genuine question as to the authenticity of the original Note and the best evidence rule did not bar the admission of a copy of the Note in lieu of the original.

B. TD Bank sufficiently established the existence of Dr. Lalla’s Note.

Appellants seem to argue TD Bank failed to prove the existence of Dr. Lalla’s Note because the original was not presented at the final foreclosure hearing. Appellants’ Brief pp. 5-8. However, as set forth above, a copy of the Note was properly admitted in

lieu of the original and considered by the Master-in-Equity. Further, TD Bank sufficiently established the existence of the Note by Bristol's testimony at trial. As set forth in more detail in the Counter-Statement of the Case above, Bristol testified as to Dr. Lalla's execution of the Note and Dr. Lalla's four-year payment history on the Note. [Transcript 21:24-22:12; 37:8-25, and 39:11-13; R. 89-90, 105, and 107]. Again, Appellants did not put forth any evidence at trial to refute Bristol's testimony, and Dr. Lalla's own Affidavit establishes the existence of the Note. [Affidavit of Lalla; R. 228]. Therefore, TD Bank sufficiently proved the existence of Dr. Lalla's Note.

C. TD Bank sufficiently established that it is the owner and holder of the Note.

Appellants next argue TD Bank failed to prove its ownership of the Note. Appellants' Brief pp. 8-10. Appellants incorrectly assert that there was no documentation of any merger between Carolina First Bank and TD Bank nor any assignment of the Note or Mortgage offered at trial. Appellants' Brief pp. 8-10. Appellants mischaracterize Bristol's testimony and assert that he testified there was no such merger and that he did not have knowledge of such merger. Appellants' Brief pp. 8 and 11-12. This is not accurate and is not supported by the record.

Bristol testified Carolina First Bank merged with TD Bank in September 2010, at which time Carolina First Bank ceased to exist and TD Bank became the owner and holder of the Note and Mortgage. [Transcript 7:7-14, 13:4-5, 19:16-18, 20:10-13, and 75:18-20; R. 75, 81, 87-88, and 143]. Bristol's testimony refers to the public nature of the merger of Carolina First Bank into TD Bank, and he specifically testified that he has seen the merger certificates and titles associated with the merger. [Transcript 52:4-8 and 55:23-56:4; R. 120 and 123-24]. Bristol testified that he has overseen and managed the

Lalla loan since June 2011 as part of his role with TD Bank. [Transcript 4:25-5:15 and 70:21-23; R. 72-73 and 138]. Finally, Bristol testified that TD Bank is in possession of the original Note. [Transcript 22:10-16; R. 90]. This testimony is sufficient to establish that Carolina First Bank merged into TD Bank and that TD Bank is now the owner and holder of the Note as a result. Again, Appellants did not put forth any evidence at trial to refute Bristol's testimony, and Dr. Lalla's own Affidavit establishes TD Bank's role as owner and holder of the Note. [Affidavit of Lalla; R. 228].

Additionally, the Master-in-Equity was asked to take judicial notice of the merger's legal effect pursuant to S.C. Code § 34-3-850(D), which provides that the rights of the merging bank are transferred to and vested in the surviving bank at the time of merger "without any deed or other transfer." [Transcript 69:21-70:7; R. 137-38]. The fact of the merger was established before the Master-in-Equity as the merger is "not subject to reasonable dispute" because it is both "generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court" and is "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." Rule 2001(b), South Carolina Rules of Evidence. The merger is a matter of public record on file with the Office of the Secretary of State for South Carolina,⁴ the Federal Reserve,⁵ and the Federal

⁴ See <http://www.sos.sc.gov/index.asp?n=18&p=4&s=18&corporateid=157053>; see also Articles of Merger filed September 30, 2010, with the South Carolina Secretary of State's Office with Agreement and Plan of Merger, stating in part:

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 26, 2010, between Carolina First Bank (the "Bank") and TD Bank, National Association ("TD Bank, N.A.").

...

Deposit Insurance Corporation.⁶ Additionally, there are over 100 foreclosure actions pending by or foreclosure judgments entered in favor of TD Bank, N.A., as successor by merger to Carolina First Bank, in Georgetown, Horry, Charleston, Richland, and Greenville Counties alone. The Master-in-Equity properly found that TD Bank is the successor in interest by merger with Carolina First Bank and, as such, has the right to enforce the Note pursuant to S.C. Code § 34-3-850(D) without the need for any assignment of the Note or Mortgage.

1. The Merger. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and Plan of Merger, at the Effective Time . . . , the Bank shall merge with and into TD Bank, N.A. (the “Merger”) under the laws of the United States and the State of South Carolina, the separate corporate existence of the Bank shall cease and TD Bank, N.A. shall survive and continue to exist as a corporation incorporated under the laws of the United States (TD Bank, N.A., as the surviving corporation in the Merger, sometimes being referred to herein as the “Surviving Bank”).

...

7. Effects of the Merger.

(a) Upon consummation of the Merger, and in addition to the effects under applicable law, including without limitation 12 U.S.C. § 215(a),

(1) all rights, franchises and interests of the Bank in and to every type of property (real, personal and mixed), tangible and intangible, and choses in action shall be transferred to and vested in the Surviving Bank by virtue of the Merger without any deed or other transfer, and the Surviving Bank, without any order or other action on the part of any court or otherwise, shall hold and enjoy all rights of property, franchises and interests . . . in the same manner and to the same extent as such rights, franchises and interests were held or enjoyed by the Bank immediately prior to the Effective Time . . .

⁵See

https://www.ffiec.gov/nicpubweb/nicweb/InstitutionHistory.aspx?parID_RSSD=310727&parDT_END=99991231.

⁶ See https://www2.fdic.gov/idasp/confirmation_outside.asp?inCert1=26849.

D. TD Bank sufficiently established Dr. Lalla's payment history on the Note.

Finally, Appellants assert it was an error of law for the Master-in-Equity to have admitted Bristol's testimony regarding the payment history based on his alleged lack of knowledge. Appellants' Brief p. 11. Again, "[a] trial judge's role in a bench trial is to admit all evidence and then evaluate it in a non-jury setting." *Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 21, 27, 542 S.E.2d 723, 726 (2001). Further, the Master-in-Equity properly found Bristol qualified to testify regarding the payment history because Bristol testified that he is a regional workout officer for TD Bank, which involves managing a loan portfolio including the subject loan, and the custodian of records for the subject loan. [Transcript 5:2-18; R. 73]. Bristol's testimony was sufficient to demonstrate his personal knowledge of the payment history for the loan, and his testimony was admissible pursuant to Rule 602 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

Appellants also assert it was an error of law for the Master-in-Equity to admit the payment history for the Note into evidence because it was printed from a computer. Appellants' Brief p. 11. Again, because this was a bench trial, the Master-in-Equity should have admitted all evidence for him to evaluate as the fact-finder. *See Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 344 S.C. 21, 27, 542 S.E.2d 723, 726 (2001). Furthermore, the Master-in-Equity properly admitted this evidence pursuant to Rules 803(6) and 1001(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence because Bristol authenticated the payment history and testified it was a print copy of an electronic database maintained in the regular course of business. [Transcript 33:18-36:25; R. 101-04].

E. TD Bank did not waive its claim for a deficiency judgment.

Appellants argue TD Bank waived its request for a deficiency judgment and mischaracterize Bristol's testimony at trial to support their argument. Appellants' Brief pp. 14-15. TD Bank's Complaint sought a monetary judgment against Dr. Lalla. [Complaint ¶¶ 19-22 and 27; R. 34-35]. Bristol specifically testified at trial—and Appellants' counsel confirmed—that TD Bank sought a deficiency judgment in this matter:

Q. And in the event that the foreclosure sale of that property does not bring enough to satisfy the bank's indebtedness, is the bank asking that a deficiency judgment be entered against Dr. Lalla?

MR. MOORE: Objection, please, Your Honor. I believe the documents - - the complaint speaks for itself and has in fact been requested.

THE COURT: Well, I think he can answer that question.

A. The bank has, yes.

[Transcript 40:24-41:9, 41:18-21, and 74:13-75:16; R. 108-09 and 142-43]. Therefore, the Master-in-Equity properly entered a deficiency judgment against Dr. Lalla in this matter, and this Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity's ruling.

As argued throughout Section I, TD Bank met its burden of proof at trial on its claim for foreclosure of its Mortgage and entry of a deficiency judgment against Dr. Lalla. Bristol's testimony established the existence of Dr. Lalla's Note, TD Bank's ownership of the Note, and Dr. Lalla's default on the Note. This testimony was without contradiction or any competing evidence from Appellants. In fact, the existence of the Note and TD Bank's ownership of the Note was corroborated by Dr. Lalla's Affidavit. Therefore, the Master-in-Equity properly found that TD Bank is entitled to a judgment

for foreclosure and sale of the mortgaged property and a deficiency judgment against Dr. Lalla, and this Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity's ruling.

II. The Master-in-Equity properly found that Appellants failed to meet their burden of proving their counterclaim.

Appellants next argue that the Master-in-Equity failed to consider the basis for their counterclaim—namely, that “[t]he property in question is residential and the Plaintiff has not complied with the regulations in regard to negotiating a modification of the note and mortgage.” Appellants’ Brief p. 12 (*citing* Answer and Counterclaim ¶ 15). Appellants assert that the subject property is a primary residence and, therefore, is protected under the Home Affordable Modification Program. Appellants’ Brief p. 13.

However, Appellants did not put forth any evidence at trial to support this counterclaim or their allegation that the subject property is their primary residence. Bristol’s trial testimony established that the subject property is rental property. [Transcript 32:20-33:11, 61:3-7, and 72:14-74:12; R. 100-01, 129, and 140-42]. In fact, Dr. Lalla’s own Affidavit establishes that the property is *not* Appellants’ primary residence. [Affidavit of Lalla ¶¶ 4 and 10; R. 228-29].

In any event, there is no private cause of action to enforce HAMP. *See, e.g., Steffens v. Am. Home Mortg. Serv., Inc.*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26586, at *5-6 (D.S.C. Jan. 5, 2011), *report and recommendation adopted by* 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26709 (D.S.C. Mar. 15, 2011) (“The defendant first argues that plaintiff’s claims should be dismissed because they are all based upon HAMP and related legislation and laws, and borrowers have no private cause of action under those statutes. This court agrees.”); *see also Watkins v. Flagstar Bank, FSB*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 67978 (D.S.C. Apr. 12, 2012) (recognizing that “HAMP does not provide for a private cause of action”).

Therefore, the Master-in-Equity properly entered judgment in favor of TD Bank, and this Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity's ruling.

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